1958

# William F. Smith and Patsy Smith v. Carroll Realty Company and Nathaniel A. Smith : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Appeal is from a Special Verdict of a Jury in the Third District Court, awarding to plaintiffs damages in the sum of \$4,850.00 in connection with an exchange of property of the plaintiffs in Salt Lake City, Utah, for property in Lava Hot Springs and assumption of mortgage on the Salt Lake City property. Defendants were real estate broker and salesman for the plaintiffs.

The Complaint alleges that plaintiffs are husband and wife and that defendant, Nathaniel A. Smith, was a licensed real estate salesman connected with the Carroll Realty Co., a real estate broker, at the time of the listing of the Salt Lake City property of plaintiffs with defendants; defendants, as agents of plaintiffs, negotiated an exchange of property with Mr. and Mrs. Nick Kladis of Lava Hot Springs, Idaho, the properties being valued at \$23,500.00 for the Salt Lake City property and \$15,500.00 for the Lava Hot Springs property; that plaintiffs directed the defendants to consult with qualified persons in Lava Hot Springs, as to the value of the Kladis property and that defendants falsely and fraudulently misrepresented the information received as to value and that plaintiffs entered into the exchange relying on the false information and suffered damage in the sum of \$8,000.00 (R. 1, 2).

An Amended Complaint added a Second Cause of Action, alleging that defendants "negligently failed to exercise due care in accordance with the standards of their profession to determine the value of the said Kladis property" and alleged damage as a result of such negligence at \$8,000.00 (R. 9).

After the trial of the case, the plaintiffs waived their claim on the basis of fraud and deleted the First Cause of Action and added as an additional Count "the right to receive, as damages, the commission paid in this case" (R. 272).

Defendants denied receipt of the commission made the subject matter of the Third Cause of Action (R. 273) and by Amended Answers took issue with the Second Cause of Action (R. 15, 16, 17, 18). The First Defense denied the alleged negligence (R. 15); the Second Defense pleaded

estoppel of plaintiffs to plead negligence or reliance on the defendants because the plaintiffs inspected the Kladis property and in signing the exchange agreement waived any cause for negligence against the defendants in making or failing to make determinations of value (R. 15); the Third Defense pleaded contributory negligence of the plaintiffs as a bar to their action, well knowing the extent of the inspection and inquiry made by the defendants of the Lava Hot Springs property (R. 16); the Fourth Defense alleged that plaintiffs "assumed the risk of disproportion in making the exchange of properties, well knowing that no appraisal of either the Idaho or the Utah properties was made" (R. 17); the Fifth Defense challenged the alleged oral modification requiring defendants to determine the value of the Kladis property as being void under the Statute of Frauds (R. 18); and the Sixth Defense alleged acceptance, approval, and ratification of the acts of defendants by entering into the written exchange agreement and closing the transaction on or about February 1, 1951 (R. 18).

At the first pretrial of the case the only issue presented was whether a preponderance of evidence would be sufficient to go to the jury (on the First Cause of Action) and to continue the pretrial (R. 7). At the second pretrial the plaintiff, William F. Smith, admitted that his Salt Lake property was listed with the Carroll Realty Company for sale or exchange (R. 8) and there were no other pretrials which modified the issues raised by the pleadings.

Following the trial of the case, defendants filed a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding Verdict or for a New Trial (R. 61-64) and then a Supplement to Motion for New Trial

on the basis of newly discovered evidence, to which certain documents were attached (R. 68-73) and which will be discussed more fully as part of the Statement of Facts.

The Court, in writing, made its Partial Decision on said Motions (R. 74-77), holding open the question of new trial for newly discovered evidence (R. 76) and, finally, denied the said Motion For a New Trial (R. 79).

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

*William F. Smith*, one of the plaintiffs, testified that he bought the home at 3031 South 8th East, Salt Lake City, in June of 1950 and listed the home for sale with Nathaniel A. Smith at the price of \$23,000.00, having previously been acquainted with Nathaniel Smith (R. 99). It is a rambler-type, hip roof home on a large lot (R. 100). "It was advertised regularly. There was a pretty fair attempt made to sell it. \* \* \* There may have been some discussion on something other than less than 'the listed price,' but 'no offer was entertained ' ' (R. 101).

In the autumn of 1950, shown a photograph of the Lava Hot Springs property, "I said I certainly would not be interested in ever making a deal without seeing more than a photograph" and so William F. Smith and Nathaniel Smith went to Lava Hot Springs around the 9th of December, 1950 (R. 102). They were at the Kladis home in Lava Hot Springs for two or three hours and "Mr. Kladis directed us through the place" and some interest in making a transaction was exhibited (R. 103).



On the return trip from Lava Hot Springs, the two Smiths had "quite a discussion about it" and "at the time I felt that I did not want to make the deal." He was interested in the possibility of moving the property rapidly and Mr. Smith thought it would be an easy task (R. 104). He felt that \$18,000.00 was too high for the Kladis property and "that we could probably get \$15,000.00 out of it" (R. 105).

Coming back, plaintiff said he wanted to find out more about the property and that he needed money to pay the commission on this transaction as well as on an earlier transaction that Nathaniel Smith had handled. Nate Smith thought he could get Kladis to provide some cash on a mortgage and \$5,000.00 was discussed (R. 106, 107). Thereafter he kept in touch with Mr. Smith periodically and about January 25, 1951 "we met at the Fletcher-Lucas office, first in a group and then I had a discussion with Mr. Smith, privately. \* \* \* I asked him what he had found out \* \* \* about the property in Idaho. He said: 'Yes, from all I can determine, it looks like a good deal to me' " (R. 108). "He said he had contacted a reliable source (R. 108). I had previously asked him to find out from some reliable people in Lava Hot Springs what the value of the property was and he had said he would (R. 109). At the time of the trade the Eighth East home had a mortgage of \$7,500.00 on it and Mr. Kladis advanced money on the Lava Hot Springs property to enable him to pay the commission (R. 110). Kladis had moved into the Salt Lake City property after renting the Lava Hot Springs property from him for February, 1951 for \$75.00, and then it was vacant until April 20th while efforts were made to sell the property (R. 111). Carroll Realty Office gave some assist-

ance in renting the property and it was listed for sale with the Pocatello Realty (R. 112), but he was unable to sell the property (R. 113). The property was lost through foreclosure of the Kladis mortgage for \$3,000.00, the foreclosure being for some \$4,400.00 (R. 114).

After the noon recess, plaintiff Smith was asked again about the conversations between the Smiths on the return from Lava Hot Springs and plaintiff testified: "I said, 'Nate, I am very much concerned about this transaction, and I don't know anything about property values in Lava, so I want to rely upon you to do that for me' "; that is, to make some investigations concerning the property and "he said, 'Bill, I feel that I will help you just as much as I can on this case, and I will do that for you.' " (R. 115); and there was a further conversation about this in the Fletcher-Lucas Office when Nate Smith said he had made investigations and "it looked to me like it would be a reasonable price to allow for that property at Lava," and plaintiff told him: "Nate, you know I rely on you—on your judgment—and, if you say it is O.K., it is O.K. by me." And in entering into the transaction he relied on defendant Smith's statement about these investigations (R. 116). In the latter part of February, 1954, the plaintiff made an investigation at Lava Hot Springs to determine what had happened and called on a banker, the manager of a Lumber Company, and a Mr. Teeple, who operates a cleaning establishment and was the L.D.S. Bishop (R. 117). Plaintiffs completed the commission payments to the defendant Smith for the exchange transaction and also the commission previously owed.

The exchange agreement was made Exhibit 1, and consummated by warranty deeds and mortgage, marked Exhibit 2.

Exhibit 1 is as follows:

### "EXCHANGE AGREEMENT"

"The Exchange Agreement Witnesseth: That the undersigned, Nick Kladis, of the County of Bannock, State of Idaho, hereinafter called the first party, hereby offers to exchange the following described property, situated in Lava Hot Springs, County of Bannock, State of Idaho, to-wit:

180 x 110 feet of ground, together with all improvements thereon, located on Brooks Street, valued at \$15,500.00, free and clear of all encumbrance,

for property owned by W. F. Smith, of the County of Salt Lake, State of Utah, hereinafter called the second party, situated in Salt Lake City, County of Salt Lake, State of Utah, to-wit:

3031 South 8th East, consisting of 100 x 284 feet, together with 1 share of Mill Creek Irrigation water, valued at \$23,000.00, subject to a mortgage of \$7,500.00 which the buyer of 3031 South 8th East agrees to assume and pay.

#### Terms and Conditions of Exchange

Each party hereto shall supply an Abstract of title for their respective properties described herein, within 30 days from the date this offer is accepted by the second party, made by a bonded abstractor showing the titles to said properties to be merchantable and free from all taxes, assessments, liens or encumbrances, except as herein mentioned and the hereinafter named agent is authorized to procure and deliver said abstracts of title. Each party shall pay for the abstracting of title to the property to be conveyed by him and the legal opinion rendered thereon.

Each party hereto shall execute and deliver, within 30 days from the date this offer is accepted, all instru-

ments necessary to transfer the titles to said properties and complete and consummate this exchange.

In the event errors appear in the titles to either or any of said properties, then this agreement shall be extended for a reasonable time and that the same may be corrected. In the event any error cannot be corrected, this agreement shall be null and void, except as to the payment of commissions, unless the title to the property affected is accepted subject thereto.

All taxes, insurance, rents and other expenses affecting said properties shall be pro-rated from the date this exchange is completed and consummated. Any act required to be done may be extended not longer than thirty days by the hereinafter named agent.

Fletcher-Lucas Investment Co., of Salt Lake City, Utah, is hereby authorized to act as agent for all parties hereto and may accept commission therefrom, and should this offer be accepted by the second party, the undersigned first party agrees to pay said agent the usual and regular \$775.00 commission for services rendered to become due on the execution of this agreement by all parties hereto.

It is also presumed and understood that all principals to this agreement have investigated the respective properties, and the agent or broker is hereby released from all responsibility regarding valuation of same.

I have read (or have had read to me) this entire agreement and understand the terms and conditions contained therein.

Dated December 18, 1950.

s/ Nick Kladis

Witness:

s/ H. E. Baird

### Acceptance

I accept the foregoing offer upon the terms and conditions stated, and the undersigned, hereinbefore called the second party agrees to pay Fletcher-Lucas Inv. Co., agent, of Salt Lake City, Utah, Eleven Hundred Fifty Dollars, (\$1,150.00) commission for services rendered to become due on the execution of this agreement by all parties hereto.

I have read (or have had read to me) this entire agreement and understand the terms and conditions contained therein. \* \* \* \* \* to include stoves and heating equipment, subject to getting a \$3,000.00 loan on Lava Hot Springs place.

Dated January 5, 1951

s/ W. F. Smith

Witness:

s/ N. A. Smith."

Exhibit 2 consisted of a warranty deed from Nick Kladis and Yerda Kladis of Lava Hot Springs, to the plaintiffs, dated February 1, 1951 and conveying the Lava Hot Springs property. It also includes the warranty deed from the plaintiffs to Nick and Yerda Kladis, covering the Salt Lake City property, subject to a mortgage for the balance of \$7,500.00. It also included a mortgage for \$3,000.00 on the Lava Hot Springs property to Nick and Yerda Kladis.

On cross-examination, the plaintiff Smith testified that he was a life insurance agent and was 39 years old (R. 119) and acquired the Eighth East home on a trade in a family transaction, his father having an interest in the Eighth East home (R. 120). The Eighth East home was acquired on a trade for a grocery store valued at \$14,500.00, the Eighth East home

was valued at \$22,000.00 and a mortgage of \$7,500.00 on it was assumed. No appraisal was made of either of those properties in the exchange, which was handled by Nathaniel A. Smith and Carroll Realty (R. 122). Before making the trade, he inspected the Eighth East property once and viewed it twice from the outside and spent "not very long" in looking it over. Title was taken in the names of him and his wife (R. 123). In August, 1950, he borrowed \$7,650.00 on the home to refinance it, which refinancing produced no cash but put the mortgage in his name and his wife's instead of Mecham's, who had previously owned it (R. 125). The note was payable on February, 1951 in the full amount of \$7,650.00, and by moving into the Eighth East home he could have obtained some long term financing (R. 126). At that time he was living in a home at 5755 Hanson Circle, which had been purchased for \$8,750.00 with a balance owing of \$7,500.00 (R. 127).

Exhibit 3 was a copy of the listing agreement on the Eighth East home showing a mortgage balance of \$6,765.00 on June 30th, which the plaintiff then recalled as the correct balance, which was increased in August, 1950, to \$7,650.00 upon application for a loan for a larger amount (R. 129). The amount on the listing agreement, Exhibit 3, is \$23,000.00 asking price, which amount was suggested by the defendant Smith (R. 130).

The Eighth East home was surrounded mostly by vacant property, with a mink ranch across the street, although it is now built up into new homes. There were some people shown through the property, but no offers to buy (R. 131, 132).

Exhibit 4, dated December 11, 1950 was received after the trip to Lava Hot Springs, which was made on a Friday, the 8th day of December (R. 133).

Exhibit 4 is on the same form as Exhibit 1 and offers to trade the Lava Hot Springs property by Nick Kladis for \$18,000.00 on the Eighth East property at \$23,000.00 and assume a balance of \$5,000.00, signed by Nick Kladis only, with no acceptance. Exhibit 4 was not satisfactory because the mortgage to be assumed was \$5,000.00 and it actually was \$7,150.00 on the Eighth East home. He first saw Exhibit 1, dated December 18, 1950 "when I signed it, which was January 5." It involves a difference in the mortgage assumed of \$7,500.00 and also a \$3,000.00 loan on the Lava Hot Springs property. The terms on Exhibit 1 were satisfactory, provided the investigation of the Lava Hot Springs property was satisfactory (R. 135, 136). Defendant Smith tried to get Kladis to loan \$5,000.00 instead of \$3,000.00 and signed it at \$3,000.00 because the \$5,000.00 could not be obtained. It was January 5, 1951 when the plaintiff Smith told defendant Smith he was relying upon his investigation of the Lava Hot Springs property in making the agreement (R. 138). The plaintiff asked: "Nate, did you ask—did you inquire of anyone in Lava as I requested—namely, the L.D.S. Bishop, as one? He said: 'Yes, I have, and, from what I could learn from him, he said he felt that might be a fair price on that property, ' and plaintiff said: "Nate, I rely entirely on you" (R. 139). From January 5th to February 1st the transaction just waited for closing, there being some bad weather (R. 139).

On January 5th, when we met at the Fletcher-Lucas

Office, plaintiff was told he was free to back out of the transaction, but this was not said after January 5th, after he signed the agreement (R. 140).

William F. Smith handled the transaction. His wife did not confer with any of the people (R. 141).

On the trip to Lava Hot Springs, plaintiff Smith had looked through the inside and the outside of the Lava property and he found it "in very probable condition at that time" (R. 142). He discussed with defendant Smith the possibility of using it for a hotel or motel. Defendant Smith told the plaintiff he was not familiar with properties in Lava Hot Springs (R. 143).

Plaintiff went to Lava Hot Springs with Mr. Carroll in June, 1951 and in August, 1951.

"Q. Do you remember whether, on the day you went to Lava Hot Springs with Mr. Smith, before you parted, after you had returned to Salt Lake, you signed an offer—a counter proposal of some kind?

A. No, I don't remember that.

Q. Do you recall whether there were any counter offers made, other than the two I had shown you?

A. No.

Q. Did you originate any?

A. No.

Q. These two were both originated by Mr. Kladis, weren't they?

A. Yes.



Q. You don't think you made any counter proposal to Mr. Kladis? You don't recall any?

A. No." (R. 148).

While in Lava Hot Springs, Mr. and Mrs. Kladis had represented the Lava property very highly and placed the value of \$18,000.00 on it (R. 150). They compared it with one or two other homes there which had recently been sold and mentioned the prices (R. 150). Plaintiff did not tell them he did not think their house was worth \$18,000.00 (R. 151). In the foreclosure action brought by the Kladis estate following the death of Mr. Kladis, plaintiff filed a counter-claim, alleging that Mr. and Mrs. Kladis had defrauded him and that they had represented that they had the opinion of a banker and the L.D.S. Bishop as to values (R. 151, 154).

*Fred F. Jensen* testified for the plaintiff that he was a retired real estate broker, having retired in March, 1954 (R. 162). There is a common practice or procedure upon which a realtor determines market value of property which includes consideration of the community, the building, depreciation, the neighborhood, comparable transactions (R. 162-163). His opinion is that inquiring of a stranger by long distance telephone, the stranger being in the cleaning and dyeing business is not the exercise of reasonable skill and diligence in determining market value, where the buyer has himself inspected the property and the transaction being considered is an exchange (R. 163-164).

On cross-examination Mr. Jensen testified that he had been a member of the Salt Lake Real Estate Board only prior to 1940 (R. 166) and that the procedure he described on

direct examination was for making an appraisal of property. He had been an appraiser for Home Owners Loan Corporation and followed this procedure (R. 167). When properties are being exchanged, it is frequent that both properties are inflated and if the person making the exchange wants the value determined, it should be done in the manner he testified (R. 169). Sometimes exchanges are left without determination of values knowing that both properties are inflated and both parties feel they have made a good bargain (R. 170). Witness has known William F. Smith ever since he was a kid and knows his parents (R. 170). On redirect Mr. Jensen testified that he had not appraised the Eighth East home, but that the builder told him it cost \$15,000.00 (R. 172).

*Robert C. Banning* testified for the plaintiffs that he is a real estate broker from Twin Falls, Idaho (R. 89). He visited the property of William F. Smith in Lava Hot Springs some time in 1951 and made an inspection for the purpose of determining market value (R. 91) and that the market value would be between \$7,000.00 and \$8,000.00 (R. 91). William F. Smith listed the property for sale, but he was not able to sell it (R. 95). The property was listed by William F. Smith at \$16,000.00 (R. 96).

## EVIDENCE FOR THE DEFENDANTS

*Mrs. Yerda N. Kladis* testified that she is the widow of Mr. Kladis, who died February 28, 1951. She resides at 3031 South 8th East, having moved there from Lava Hot Springs on or about the 15th of March, 1951. As administratrix of his estate she foreclosed the mortgage of the Lava Hot Springs

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