1958

# William F. Smith and Patsy Smith v. Carroll Realty Company and Nathaniel A. Smith : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

## POINT I.

THE WRITTEN AGREEMENT REQUIRED DEFENDANTS TO DETERMINE VALUES OF THE EXCHANGE PROPERTIES.

The written agreement required defendants to exercise reasonable skill and diligence in the performance of their duties as real estate agents and brokers. When the proposal to exchange plaintiffs' property for the Kladis property was presented to defendants it was their responsibility to become fully informed about the Kladis property and particularly to become properly advised as to the reasonable market value of said property. The expert witnesses Jensen and Solomen, both testified that the standards and custom of the real estate business require this to be done. (R. 173, 209).

Defendants knew that plaintiffs were relying on them to ascertain the value of the Kladis property and on the basis of that value to advise plaintiffs as to whether the exchange would be beneficial to them. This was the sole reason defendant contacted Mr. Teeples.

Defendants now contend that the employment agreement did not require them to ascertain the value of the Kladis property. The trial court did not give credence to this rather novel argument and submitted the matter to the jury as an issue of fact.

Under Group 1, Proposition A and B of the Special Verdict the trial court presented as an issue of fact the scope of defendants' employment. The jury found that

the scope of defendants' employment agreement did, in fact, include the duty to determine the reasonable market value of the Kladis property.

The standards of the real estate profession and the conduct by defendants substantiated this finding by the jury.

Under the same group of the Special Verdict the trial court properly included the duty of defendants to report the results of their inquiry.

## POINT II.

THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS IS NOT INVOLVED IN THIS CASE.

Under Point II of their brief defendants again argue that the written Sales Agency Contract did not include the duty of defendants to determine the reasonable value of the Kladis property, and further that if defendants did have the duty, this duty was based upon an oral modification of the written agreement. Counsel then cites authorities that any oral modification is void as being within the Statute of Frauds.

This same argument was presented to the trial court in the Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict. The trial court disposed of this novel contention in his memorandum decision as follows:

“The defendants claimed that the oral agreement to determine the valuation of the property was not supported by consideration, and barred by the Statute of Frauds.

“The Court tentatively is of the opinion that such is the fact, but is of the opinion that the agent was bound by the written agreement of employment to disclose to his principal what he had learned concerning the value of the property and that a breach in that respect was a breach of the written agreement, and on this ground the motions are denied.” (R. 75)

It is a well accepted principle of law that the scope of employment of a real estate agent encompasses the duty to disclose pertinent and material facts.

In *Reich v. Christopulos*, 256 P. 2d 238, this court stated:

“In undertaking the sale of the property for the Reichs, Hill had a duty to represent their interest in good faith, to discharge it with reasonable skill and diligence and to disclose to them all pertinent facts which would materially affect their interest. As is noted in American Jurisprudence:

‘The faithful discharge of his duties is a condition precedent to any recovery upon the part of a broker for the services he has rendered his principal. Thus, he is not entitled to compensation if he fails to disclose to his principal any personal knowledge which he possesses relative to matters which are or may be material to his employer’s interests  
\* \* \*’”

An annotation in 32 ALR 2d 728, discusses the subject as follows:

“As pointed out in 8 Am. Jur. 1038, Brokers, Sec. 39, the rule requiring a broker to act with the utmost good faith toward his principal places him

under a legal obligation to make a full, fair, and prompt disclosure to his employer of all facts within his knowledge which are or may be material to the matter in connection with which he is employed, which might affect his principal's rights and interest of influence his action in relation to the subject matter of the employment, or which in any way pertain to the discharge of the agency which the broker has undertaken; and it is the interests of the employer that furnish the criterion as to what information is material in the sense that it should be communicated by the broker to his employer."

It is admitted that Smith orally agreed to determine the value of the Kladis property and in accordance with said oral agreement contacted Mr. Teeples and received valuable information pertaining to the prospective exchange property. The jury found he failed to disclose this information to the plaintiffs. It is inconceivable that the Statute of Frauds could be used to relieve the defendants from legal responsibility for their failure to discharge their fiduciary duty of full disclosure. The trial court correctly ruled the Statute of Frauds has no application.

An interesting case in point is *Steiner v. Rowley*, (Cal.) 221 P. 2d 9. This was an action by plaintiffs to secure the amounts paid as commission and secret profits to defendants as real estate agents. In count one of their complaint plaintiffs alleged defendant was employed by them under an oral contract and alleges the violation of his duties.

A general demurrer to this court was sustained by the trial court and plaintiffs appealed. Defendants asserted that this court did not state a cause of action because the oral agreement was within the Statute of Frauds. The trial court in overruling the demurrer stated:

“The right of the Steiners to recover against Rowley on count one of their complaint depends upon the applicability of section 1624 of the Civil Code to the transaction which is basis of the controversy. That statute reads: ‘An agreement authorizing or employing an agent or broker to purchase or sell real estate for compensation or a commission \* \* \*’ is invalid unless the same, or some note or memorandum thereof, is in writing and subscribed by the party to be charged or by his agent. The first count states, the Steiners contend, a cause of action for the recovery of secret profits made by a fiduciary. The purpose of section 1624 of the Civil Code, they say, is only to prevent a broker from recovering a commission for services performed under an oral contract. As Rowley received his commission and the contract was fully executed, the form of the agreement is immaterial. Finally, they assert that there is a fiduciary relationship between the broker and his employer under either an oral or written contract, and a contrary rule would allow the statute of frauds to be used as a cloak for fraud. Rowley declares that because of the allegation of an oral contract between the parties, count one fails to state a cause of action.

“\* \* \* Count one of the Steiners’ complaint therefore states a cause of action unless the fact that Rowley was employed under an oral contract bars a recovery against him.

“Section 1624 of the Civil Code is applicable to the collection by the agent or broker of his ‘\* \* \* compensation or a commission \* \* \*’ and the enforcement by the principal of the broker’s agreement, (citing cases) but it has nothing to do with the cause of action pleaded by the Steiners. They are not attempting to ‘enforce’ a contract made by Rowley. The commission has been paid and the contract for Rowley’s services fully executed. The cause of action is one to recover from a fiduciary his commission and secret profits, and the general demurrer to it should have been overruled.”

### POINT III.

#### THE DUTY OF DEFENDANTS WAS NOT BASED UPON A VOID CONTRACT.

Under this point defendants contend that negligent performance of a duty based upon a void contract is not actionable. This is merely a reargument of Points I and II under a different guise. We refer the Court to our previous two points for our position.

### POINT IV.

#### THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO INSTRUCT ON CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE OR ASSUMPTION OF RISK.

There can be no question about the fact that a fiduciary relationship existed between the parties. This being true, the plaintiffs had the right to rely upon Defendant Smith’s representation that he had checked into the value of the Kladis property and that the prospective trade was to plaintiffs’ advantage.



In *Richer v. Burke* (Ore.) 34 P. 2d 317, which involved the exchange of properties by residents of different states, the court, in discussing the issue of reliance, stated as follows:

“Moreover, it will be recalled that the defendant Burke was the witness’ agent. It was Burke’s duty to fully and frankly inform the plaintiffs concerning this property. The plaintiffs owned no duty to him to be on the alert lest he deceive them. They were not bound to investigate his statements. To the contrary, they would rightfully place confidence in any statements their agent made concerning this property. (Citing cases)”.

In *Burgess v. Charles A. Wing Agency*, (Ore.) 11 P. 2d 811, the court stated:

“Whatever may be the rule requiring investigation where the parties deal at arm’s length, it is well established that this necessity does not exist where a relationship of trust or confidence exists between the parties so that the principal places reliance upon the trustworthiness of the other.”

Defendants, on page 43 of their brief, refer to an annotation at 62 ALR 1357, 1360, as being in support of their contention. Counsel omitted a portion of the statement and did not correctly include within the quotes the important portion of the annotation. The correct statement is as follows:

*“In the absence of special circumstances giving the principal a right to rely on the agent’s skill and care, the principal has been held to be barred from recovering for the agent’s negligence by contributory negligence.”*

In the case at bar plaintiffs questioned defendant concerning the value of the Kladis property. Defendant Smith elected to withhold facts and instead gave an opinion "It looks like a good deal to me." (R. 109). In view of the fiduciary relationship plaintiff was under no duty to cross examine or investigate this statement.

The jury found that defendants breached their duty of full disclosure and that as a result of this violation plaintiffs entered into a real estate transaction which caused them to suffer damages. This finding was abundantly supported by the evidence.

The authorities cited by defendants are not in point. For example, the Cole case involved an action between a buyer and seller, not a real estate agent and his client.

Plaintiff could only be found contributory negligent or to have assumed the risks of the transaction if he had no right to rely on the representations of his fiduciary. The authorities are uniform that under the circumstances of this case a fiduciary relationship existed and that plaintiff did have a right to rely on said representations. The undisputed evidence is that he relied on said representations to his detriment. Therefore, there was and could be no issue of contributory negligence or assumption of risk in this case, and the trial court was correct in so holding.

#### POINT V.

#### THE EXCHANGE AGREEMENT DID NOT WAIVE THE SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION.

In the memorandum decision the trial court stated as follows:

## “Point II

“The defendants argued that the motion should be granted because upon the signing of the exchange agreement, the plaintiffs waived claims against the realtor. The matter being submitted to the jury on the theory that the defendants failed to disclose an opinion as to the value of the property in Idaho, presented an action on which a claim could not be waived by contract, and on this ground the motions are denied.” (R. 75)

The defendants, on page 45 of their brief, after referring to the above comment contend that the failure to disclose an opinion is fraud and the court must have had in mind that a waiver of an action for negligence is contrary to public policy. Counsel then cites authorities for this proposition.

We submit that the language used by the trial court is a sufficient response to counsel’s argument.

## POINT VI.

### THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY PRESENTED TO THE JURY THE ISSUE OF DEFENDANTS’ NEGLIGENCE.

Plaintiffs’ original complaint was based upon an allegation of fraud and misrepresentation. The complaint was amended to allege negligence as a second cause of action which was the only issue presented to the jury.

Dismissal of the first cause of action was not an abandonment of plaintiffs’ only tenable position. The evidence disclosed defendants breached their fiduciary duty to disclose valuable information to plaintiff. The

evidence further disclosed that defendants, as real estate agents, failed to use their skill and knowledge before expressing an opinion to their client. All of this conduct on behalf of defendants was based upon a written agreement between the parties.

It is immaterial whether this conduct by defendants is termed fraud or negligence because it is obviously a failure of defendants to perform their legal duty. A label cannot change the quality or characteristics of the product.

#### POINT VII.

THE PROOF WAS SUFFICIENT AS TO THE PLAINTIFF PATSY SMITH.

The plaintiffs' home which was listed with the Jackson Realty Company for sale was owned jointly by the plaintiff William A. Smith and Patsy Smith, his wife. The evidence reveals that William A. Smith dealt with defendants and with Kladis for himself and for his wife as well. Defendants offered no rebuttal evidence as to Patsy Smith's rights. But they now undertake to inject this hypertechnical contention into the case to confuse the issues. We will leave it to this court's good judgment whether to sustain the verdict in favor of William A. Smith alone or in favor of both plaintiffs. The end result would be identical.

#### POINT VIII.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN AWARDING PLAINTIFFS THE AMOUNT OF REAL ESTATE COMMISSION.

The trial court properly directed the jury to include as damages the commission paid on this transaction.

Defendants argue the commission was paid to Fletcher-Lucas Investment Company but the evidence discloses that the commission was paid pursuant to plaintiffs' Sales Agency Agreement.

In *Reich v. Christopoulos*, 123 U. 137, 266 P. 2d 238, the court stated:

"In undertaking the sale of the property for the Reiches, Hill had a duty to represent their interest in good faith, to discharge it with reasonable skill and diligence and to disclose to them all pertinent facts which would materially affect their interest. As is noted in American Jurisprudence, (4 Am. Jur. 1067, Brokers, Sec. 142):

"The faithful discharge of his duties is a condition precedent to any recovery upon the part of a broker for the services he has rendered his principal. Thus, he is not entitled to compensation if he fails to disclose to his principal any personal knowledge which he possesses relative to matters which are or may be material to his employer's interests \* \* \*."

In *Baird v. Madsen* (Cal.) 134 P. 2d 885, the court stated:

"It is doubtless true, as pointed out by defendant, that a real estate broker must act in good faith in the discharge of his duties as agent; that by misconduct, breach of conduct or wilful disregard, in a material respect, of an obligation imposed upon him by the law of agency he may forfeit his right to compensation. (Citing cases). To

this end it is held that the rule which applies to trustees generally governs the relationship between a real estate broker and his principal. The broker is bound to disclose to the principal any facts known to him which are material to the transaction, and if he takes part in the negotiations he is bound to exercise his skill for the benefit of his principal; and any concealment from the principal of material facts known to the agent, or any collusion by the latter with a purchaser may operate to forfeit the right of the agent to compensation for his services (Citing cases), and it matters not that there was no fraud meditated and no injury done. The rule is not intended to be remedial of actual wrong, but preventative of the possibility of it. (Citing cases) Applying the foregoing legal principles to the findings on this issue, it would seem that the trial court was not unwarranted in giving judgment for the defendant."

See 8 A.J. Sec. 142, 134 ALR 1346, and *Reese v. Harper*, 329 P. 2d 410.

The evidence establishes in this case that defendants forfeited their rights to receive any compensation for their services when they failed to discharge the duties of their employment. We submit that the better authorities all support our position on this issue.

The case cited by defendants involved a statute peculiar to the State of California and is not controlling in this case.

#### POINT IX.

THE COURT PROPERLY DENIED DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL.

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